

PNNL-22128

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Modeling of GE Appliances: Cost Benefit Study of Smart Appliances in Wholesale Energy, Frequency Regulation, and Spinning Reserve Markets

JC Fuller GB Parker

December 2012



DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor Battelle Memorial Institute, nor any of their employees, makes **any warranty**, **express or implied**, **or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof, or Battelle Memorial Institute. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.**

PACIFIC NORTHWEST NATIONAL LABORATORY

operated by

BATTELLE

for the

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Printed in the United States of America

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from the Office of Scientific and Technical Information,

P.O. Box 62, Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062; ph: (865) 576-8401 fax: (865) 576-5728 email: reports@adonis.osti.gov

Available to the public from the National Technical Information Service,

U.S. Department of Commerce, 5285 Port Royal Rd., Springfield, VA 22161

ph: (800) 553-6847 fax: (703) 605-6900

email: orders@ntis.fedworld.gov online ordering: http://www.ntis.gov/ordering.htm

This document was printed on recycled paper.

(12/2012)

Modeling of GE Appliances: Cost Benefit Study of Smart Appliances in Wholesale Energy, Frequency Regulation, and Spinning Reserve Markets

JC Fuller GB Parker

December 2012

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, Washington 99352

Summary

The widespread adoption of demand response (DR) enabled appliances and thermostats can result in significant reduction to peak electrical demand and provide potential grid stabilization benefits. GE has developed a line of appliances that will have the capability of offering several levels of demand reduction actions based on information received from the utility grid, often in the form of price or grid status. However due to a number of factors, including the number of DR-enabled appliances available at any given time, the reduction of diversity factor due to the synchronizing control signal, and the percentage of consumers who may override the utility signal, it can be difficult to predict the aggregate response of a large number of residences.

This report is the second in a series of three reports describing the potential of GE's DRenabled appliances to provide benefits to the utility grid. The first report described the modeling methodology used to represent the GE appliances in the GridLAB-D simulation environment and the estimated potential for peak demand reduction at various deployment levels. The third report will explore the technical capability of aggregated group actions to positively impact grid stability, including frequency and voltage regulation and spinning reserves, and the impacts on distribution feeder voltage regulation, including mitigation of fluctuations caused by high penetration of photovoltaic distributed generation.

In this report, a series of analytical methods were presented to estimate the potential cost benefit of smart appliances while utilizing demand response. Previous work estimated the potential technical benefit (i.e., peak reduction) of smart appliances, while this report focuses on the monetary value of that participation. The effects on wholesale energy cost and possible additional revenue available by participating in frequency regulation and spinning reserve markets were explored. Specifically, historical market data from NYISO and PJM in 2006 were used to estimate the savings available to consumers and/or utilities by engaging demand response capabilities in HVAC systems, water heaters, clothes dryers and washers, dishwashers, refrigerators, freezers, miscellaneous light and plug loads, and cooktop range and ovens. While prices were marginally higher in 2006 than current prices, these were openly available, complete data sets and are used to provide a general indication of the value of smart appliances within a structured market.

Historical data from the End-Use Load and Consumer Assessment Program (ELCAP) and current U.S. energy usage by appliance was used to create seasonal, hourly load shapes for an average single family household. The appliance load shapes are available in Appendix B. These were applied against the 2006 NYISO and PJM wholesale energy markets. Estimates were made on the peak shifting capability of each appliance to respond to a TOU/CPP signal designed to significantly shift peak load for six hours on the 15 highest energy cost days within those markets and slightly shift peak load on all other days. A series of "optimism levels" were created to represent consumer willingness to participate in the demand response program ranging

from "unresponsive" to "very responsive". Optimism levels 3-4 were designed to represent an "average" consumer, while optimism level 5 was designed using GE Appliance survey data and was considered an "early adopter" for the purposes of this study. The estimated load shifting capabilities for each optimism level for each appliance are available in Appendix A. The net annual savings (in dollars and kWh) on a per household basis (i.e., an average household's response at that optimism level) are shown in Figure S-1. It should be noted that this value represents the wholesale *cost* savings not the retail savings, and does not include adders, tariffs, or additional retail markups applied at the distribution level. Effectively, this represents the amount of money the utility would save on wholesale energy costs, on a per household basis, by consumers shifting their load to a different time of day. The distribution of this money, i.e., what portion is returned to the customer versus the utility, is not discussed in this study.



Figure S-1: Annual utility wholesale savings (\$ and kWh) on a per household basis using a TOU/CPP rate.

This process was repeated for frequency regulation and spinning reserve markets utilizing one hour average markets from NYISO and PJM. On the 15 CPP days, frequency regulation and spinning reserve participation was not allowed. The next 30 highest price days in the frequency regulation market were then chosen for the appliances to participate, allowing up to three hours of market participation on each of those days. Only three hours were allowed per day to limit customer fatigue. Finally, excluding the 15 CPP days and 30 frequency regulation days, 150

spinning reserve days with three hours each day were chosen for appliance participation. This gave a total of 630 DR participation hours out of 8760 in a year. While it is expected that load resources can provide multiple benefits on a single day (e.g., mixing frequency regulation and spinning reserves), for the purpose of simplifying this analysis, single-day multi-objective controls were not considered.

As certain appliances are more amenable to short term load shifting than others, estimates on the load shifting capabilities of each appliance were made for frequency regulation and spinning reserves at each optimism level. These estimates can also be found in Appendix A. The net effects of wholesale energy cost reductions and additional revenue due to participation in frequency regulation and spinning reserve markets are shown in Figure S-2 and Figure S-3, again on a per household basis. For the purpose of this study, the additional revenue generated in the frequency regulation and spinning markets is considered a savings.



Figure S-2: Annual utility cost savings (\$) on a per household basis when applying TOU/CPP rates, frequency response, and spinning reserve in NYISO.



Figure S-3: Annual utility cost savings (\$) on a per household basis when applying TOU/CPP rates, frequency response, and spinning reserve in PJM.

While much of this value is derived from the HVAC system and water heaters, significant lifetime benefits can be seen from other appliances. Standard appliances continue operation for 10-20 years, so the initial capital investment of a smart appliance is offset by not only a single year of usage, but over its lifetime. Using average appliance lifetime data, Table S-1 and Table S-2 show the potential reduced cost over the lifetime of the appliance, assuming 30% of the water heater benefits come from the dishwasher and clothes washer, at optimism level 4, or an "average" consumer. This represents the amount of savings a single household would generate over the lifetime of a suite of smart appliances. From these tables, it is clear that devices such as HVAC, water heaters, clothes dryers, clothes washers, and dishwashers can provide significant savings over and above the increased energy efficiency that comes with new, energy efficient appliances. Refrigerators and freezers provide some additional benefits. Considering these devices respond to signals with nearly no input from the consumer in an automated fashion, this may be considered significant. Food preparation (mainly ovens and ranges), however, does not appear to provide a significant benefits.

	Average Lifetime of Appliance (years)	Life	etime Savings (\$)
Clothes Dryer	14	\$	71.50
Clothes Washer	12	\$	46.82
Dishwasher	12	\$	65.01
Food Preparation	15	\$	9.12
Freezer	16	\$	23.36
HVAC	14	\$	324.59
Lights and Plugs	-		-
Refrigerator	14	\$	20.83
Water Heater	14	\$	226.84
Total	-	\$	788.07

Table S-1: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in NYISO.

Table S-2: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in PJM.

	Average Lifetime of Appliance (years)		etime Savings (\$)
Clothes Dryer	14	\$	37.62
Clothes Washer	12	\$	27.88
Dishwasher	12	\$	39.61
Food Preparation	15	\$	3.72
Freezer	16	\$	13.08
HVAC	14	\$	201.07
Lights and Plugs	-		-
Refrigerator	14	\$	12.12
Water Heater	14	\$	137.31
Total	-	\$	472.41

While this report should not be considered comprehensive, it does give some valuable insights into the potential use of smart appliances for demand response. A few key conclusions can be drawn from this study:

 A significant fraction (over 50%) of the total monetary benefits available to smart appliances are in the form of spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets, providing as much additional revenue in spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets as savings in wholesale energy markets. It was not determined how this revenue should be distributed between the utility and the consumer, but is left for individual deployments.

- 2) In addition to traditional demand response appliances (HVACs and water heaters), clothes dryers, clothes washers and dishwashers provide a significant amount of savings when accounting for the indirect effects on the water heater load. In areas where gas water heaters are prevalent, clothes washers and dishwashers participating in demand response do not provide significant savings or revenue in electricity markets.
- 3) Refrigerators and freezers are capable of providing some monetary benefits, but less so than the previous appliances. However, since these devices are nearly 100% automated with little to no effect on the consumer experience, this may increase their intrinsic value to demand response programs.
- 4) Food preparation devices (cooktops and ovens) do not provide significant monetary benefits.

This study did not focus on the mechanism by which smart appliances engage in spinning reserve or frequency regulation services or how the utility and consumer might split the cost and benefits associated with such a program. Further work is needed to understand how these devices might engage in these markets, the reliability of such participation, and what the capital and continuing costs of such engagement might be.

Table of Contents

SUMMARY	IV
TABLE OF FIGURES	XI
TABLE OF TABLES	
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	XIV
1 INTRODUCTION	
2 POWER SYSTEM BALANCING AND RESERVE REQUIREMENTS	
3 SMART APPLIANCE CAPABILITIES	
3.1 WHOLESALE ENERGY COSTS	6
3.2 FREQUENCY REGULATION	
3.3 SPINNING RESERVE	
4 BENEFIT ANALYSES	
5 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: APPLIANCE RESPONSE ASSUMPTIONS	
APPENDIX B: ELCAP LOAD SHAPES	

Table of Figures

Figure S-1: Annual utility wholesale savings (\$ and kWh) on a per household basis u	using a TOU/CPP ratev
Figure S-2: Annual utility cost savings (\$) on a per household basis when apply TO response, and spinning reserve in NYISO.	
Figure S-3: Annual utility cost savings (\$) on a per household basis when apply TO response, and spinning reserve in PJM.	· ·
Figure 3-1: Base and modified load shape for the clothes dryer using a CPP signal	
Figure 4-1: Load shape used for the clothes dryer simulation	15
Figure 4-2: Annual cost savings for an average household (\$ and kWh) when apply	ΓΟU/CPP rates17
Figure 4-3: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when apply TOU/C response in NYISO.	· ·
Figure 4-4: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when apply TOU/C response in PJM.	
Figure 4-5: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when apply TOU response, and spinning reserve in NYISO.	
Figure 4-6: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when apply TOU response, and spinning reserve in PJM.	
Figure 4-7: Annual cost savings (%) for an average household when apply TOU response, and spinning reserve in NYISO.	
Figure 4-8: Annual cost savings (%) for an average household when apply TOU response, and spinning reserve in PJM.	
Figure 4-9: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in NYIS	
Figure 4-10: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in PJM.	23
Figure 4-11: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in N heater indirect reduction	•
Figure 4-12: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in PJM indirect reduction.	•
Figure B-1: ELCAP load shapes for clothes dryers	
Figure B-2: ELCAP load shapes for clothes washers.	
Figure B-3: ELCAP load shapes for dishwashers	43
Figure B-4: ELCAP load shapes for food preparation	
Figure B-5: ELCAP load shapes for freezers.	
Figure B-6: ELCAP load shapes for HVACs.	
Figure B-7: ELCAP load shapes for lights and other miscellaneous devices	
Figure B-8: ELCAP load shapes for refrigerators.	
Figure B-9: ELCAP load shapes for water heaters.	

Table of Tables

Table S-1: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in NYISO	viii
Table S-2: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in PJM.	viii
Table 3-1: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for CPP.	9
Table 3-2: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for TOU.	9
Table 3-3: Example calculation of new dryer load shape when applying a	10
Table 3-3: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for frequency regulation.	12
Table 3-4: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for spinning reserves.	13
Table 4-1: Annual energy consumption for an average household of studied appliances.	14
Table 4-2: Annual energy costs and consumption for an average household in PJM and NYISO average single family all electric appliance household.	
Table 4-3: TOU and CPP rate hours used in analysis	16
Table 4-4: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in NYISO	25
Table 4-5: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in PJM	26
Table A-1: Clothes dryer response assumptions for CPP.	30
Table A-2: Clothes dryer response assumptions for TOU.	30
Table A-3: Clothes dryer response assumptions for frequency regulation.	30
Table A-4: Clothes dryer response assumptions for spinning reserve.	31
Table A-5: Clothes washer response assumptions for CPP.	31
Table A-6: Clothes washer response assumptions for TOU.	31
Table A-7: Clothes washer response assumptions for frequency regulation.	32
Table A-8: Clothes washer response assumptions for spinning reserve.	32
Table A-9: Dishwasher response assumptions for CPP	32
Table A-10: Dishwasher response assumptions for TOU	33
Table A-11: Dishwasher response assumptions for frequency regulation	33
Table A-12: Dishwasher response assumptions for spinning reserve.	
Table A-13: Food Preparation response assumptions for CPP.	34
Table A-14: Food Preparation response assumptions for TOU.	34
Table A-15: Food Preparation response assumptions for frequency regulation.	34
Table A-16: Food Preparation response assumptions for spinning reserve.	35
Table A-17: Freezer response assumptions for CPP	35
Table A-18: Freezer response assumptions for TOU	35
Table A-19: Freezer response assumptions for frequency regulation.	36
Table A-20: Freezer response assumptions for spinning reserve.	36
Table A-21: HVAC response assumptions for CPP.	
Table A-22: HVAC response assumptions for TOU.	37

Table A-23: HVAC response assumptions for frequency regulation.	37
Table A-24: HVAC response assumptions for spinning reserve.	37
Table A-25: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for CPP	38
Table A-26: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for TOU	38
Table A-27: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for frequency regulation.	38
Table A-28: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for spinning reserve	39
Table A-29: Refrigerator response assumptions for CPP.	39
Table A-30: Refrigerator response assumptions for TOU.	39
Table A-31: Refrigerator response assumptions for frequency regulation.	40
Table A-32: Refrigerator response assumptions for spinning reserve.	40
Table A-33: Water Heater response assumptions for CPP.	40
Table A-34: Water Heater response assumptions for TOU.	41
Table A-35: Water Heater response assumptions for frequency regulation.	41
Table A-36: Water Heater response assumptions for spinning reserve.	41

Acronyms and Abbreviations

BPA	Bonneville Power Administration	
CPP	Critical Peak Pricing	
CRADA	Cooperative Research and Development Agreement	
DOE	U.S. Department of Energy	
DOE-OE	Office of Electricity and Energy Reliability	
DR	Demand Response	
EIA	Energy Information Agency	
ELCAP	End-Use Load and Consumer Assessment Program	
EPCA	Energy Policy and Conservation Act	
ERCOT	Electric Reliability Council of Texas	
ES	Energy Savings	
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Commission	
GE	General Electric	
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning	
HWH	Hybrid Water Heater	
ISO	Independent System Operator	
LMP	Locational Marginal Price	
LSE	Load Serving Entity	
NYISO	New York Independent System Operator	
PJM	Pennsylvania-New Jersey-Maryland Interconnection	
PNNL	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory	
RTO	Regional Transmission Operators	
SR	Spinning Reserve	
TOU	Time-of-Use	

1 Introduction

The Energy Information Administration (EIA) estimates that electricity use will increase by more than 30 percent by 2035, and that residential electricity usage will increase by 23 percent [1]. During this time, peak electricity demand is expected grow at an even greater rate, requiring significant investment in system capacity. In addition, increased penetration of intermittent renewable resources will increase system variability, requiring additional resources to mitigate the variability associated with generator output [2]. Widespread adoption of demand response (DR) enabled appliances, thermostats, and other demand-side resources can result in significant reduction to peak electrical demand and provide potential grid stabilization benefits. The key to adoption is to provide this resource at a cost commensurate with traditional grid capabilities, and to appropriately share both the costs and the benefits between the consumer and the service provider (i.e., the utility). However, the business model for investing in demand-side resources cannot be determined without an estimation of the possible technical benefits and how those benefits translate to monetary value in current electrical market structures.

GE Appliances' has developed a line of appliances that will have the capability of offering several levels of demand reduction actions based on information received from the utility grid, often in the form of price or grid status. However due to a number of factors, including the number of DR-enabled appliances available at any given time, the reduction of diversity factor due to the synchronizing control signal, and the percentage of consumers who may override the utility signal, it can be difficult to predict the aggregate response of a large number of residences. The effects of these behaviors have been modeled and simulated in the PNNL-developed opensource software, GridLAB-D[™] [3], including evaluation of appliance controls, improvement to current algorithms, and development of aggregate control methodologies. The results of these simulations provide an estimation of the possible technical benefits (e.g., peak load reduction) attributable to smart appliances, but do not describe the monetary value of these services.

This report is the second in a series of three reports funded by U.S. Department of Energy Office of Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability (DOE-OE) in collaboration with GE Appliances' through a Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (CRADA) to describe the potential of GE Appliances' DR-enabled appliances to provide benefits to the utility grid. The first report described the modeling methodology used to represent the GE appliances in the GridLAB-D simulation environment and the estimated potential for peak demand reduction at various deployment levels [4].

The second report explores the monetary value of potential grid services (e.g., peak reduction or frequency regulation) provided by DR-enabled appliances in various U.S. energy markets. This report is not intended to be an all-inclusive analysis, but rather explore some of the possibilities of the potential cost savings that could be seen by utilizing smart appliances to reduce wholesale energy costs, while also participating in frequency regulation and spinning reserve markets. There are too many possibilities to attempt an all-inclusive analysis. Consumers in different areas of the country respond differently to demand response signals.

Climate and weather will significantly affect how consumers allow demand response programs to interact with their devices. Electric market structures are structured in some parts of the country with wholesale demand response markets, while others use only bilateral agreements for wholesale purchasing of energy and ancillary services. Electrical rates vary widely across the country. These are just a few examples. Rather, this report will lay out a number of "optimism levels" which regard consumers from "unresponsive" to "very responsive" and make estimates on how much appliance loads may be shifted at each of these levels. The load shifting behavior will be applied to historical data (2006) from NYISO and PJM wholesale energy, frequency regulation, and spinning reserve markets. The potential monetary value of these services will be estimated on an annual basis and over the lifetime of the appliance.

The third report will explore the technical capability of aggregated group actions to positively impact grid stability, including frequency and voltage regulation and spinning reserves, and the impacts on distribution feeder voltage regulation, including mitigation of fluctuations caused by high penetration of photovoltaic distributed generation.

This report will be presented as follows. Section 2 will briefly describe the power system requirements for operational balancing and reserves. Section 3 will describe the ability of smart appliances to meet those needs. Section 4 will provide a limited benefit analysis for smart appliance participation in energy and ancillary markets. Section 5 will provide overall observations and conclusions. Appendix A will provide more detailed information about the operational and model characteristics of GE Appliances' DR-enabled appliances and the models used in this work.

2 Power System Balancing and Reserve Requirements

The American power system is a large, complex machine, requiring near-perfect balance of generation resources and load demand to continue operation. Minute-to-minute load and generation variability caused by cycling on and off of millions of individual loads, requires constant adjustments to this balance. Significant variations can also occur within the generation resource with increased penetrations of intermittent resources (mainly wind and solar), increasing system-wide variability and increasing requirements for securing balancing resources. Traditionally, these balancing resources have been obtained on the supply side (generators), but in aggregate, demand-side resources may represent an equal potential for providing balancing services if the resource can be controlled in an equivalent manner to the generation resource.

Balancing services are acquired by Transmission Providers, e.g., Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) or New York Independent Service Operator (NYISO), to maintain the balance between supply and demand at all times. These balancing services are often referred to as ancillary services. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission's (FERC) Order 888 [5] defines ancillary services as "*Those services that are necessary to support the transmission of capacity and energy from resources to loads while maintaining reliable operation of the Transmission Provider's Transmission System in accordance with Good Utility Practice.*" and defines six forms of ancillary service:

- (1) Scheduling, System Control and Dispatch Service: schedule the movement of power through, out of, within or into the control area;
- (2) Reactive Supply and Voltage Control from Generation Sources Service: to maintain transmission voltages within acceptable limits, facilities are operated to produce reactive power;
- (3) Regulation and Frequency Response Service: provides for continuous balancing (generation and interchange) with load to maintain frequency at 60 Hz;
- (4) Energy Imbalance Service: reduces the deviation between the scheduled and actual delivery of energy to a load within a local control area;
- (5) Operating Reserve Spinning Reserve Service: provided by generating units that are online but not at full capacity to immediately serve changes in load, typically during a system contingency;
- (6) Operation Reserve Supplemental Reserve Service: serves load during a system contingency and is not available immediately, but rather after a short time interval.

Transmission providers may have different definitions of service, or may group them in a different manner. For the purpose of this study, the FERC classifications will be used. Actual requirements and proportions of the resources to the total load vary from region to region. Engagement of the resource also varies from provider to provider. Some providers employ a double-auction market system (both real-time and day-ahead) to determine the lowest cost resource, while others establish long-term settlement contracts dispatching the resources as needed. Again, the structure of the engagement varies throughout the United States. In some

markets, capacity markets have been developed to encourage long-term capacity growth. Responsive loads are well-positioned for participating in this type of market. Capacity markets were not considered in this study. For the purpose of this study, the penetration level of the DR-enabled appliances will be considered low enough that their behavior has no effect on the price of the services acquired (i.e., open loop response or a "price-taking" scenario), but rather respond to variations in the price providing the required service at current market price.

3 Smart Appliance Capabilities

Energy efficiency has long been a focus of residential appliance research and development. The Energy Policy and Conservation Act (EPCA) of 1975 established energy conservation programs for major household appliances [6], with additional amendments and requirements established as necessary to encourage appliance manufacturers to increase energy efficiency [7]-[11]. Combined with voluntary industry energy efficiency efforts, residential appliance consumption has saved nearly 1.5 quads of energy since 1990 [12]. However, load management capabilities have not had as high a priority in research and development. These resources are crucial, along with the energy efficiency standards, in managing increasing electricity demand, especially during on-peak or critical event periods on the electrical grid.

Smart appliances have the capability to provide not only energy reduction but load shifting resources. The GE Appliances are designed to automatically respond to a control signal (analogous to price), while engaging the customer through a visual interface and various override actions. This is a key to acceptability with customers, operating under the principle of automating as many response actions as possible without circumventing the customer's freedom to choose to override the response strategy and operate normally when necessary. In general, when the price of electricity increases, the customer is presented with three choices: delay operation to a later time when prices are cheaper; enter an Energy Savings mode (ES-mode), but continue operation; or override the load reduction and operate normally. When the customer is not present, the appliance defaults to either energy savings or delay of operation, depending upon the control signal and particular appliance settings. The different control actions of the appliances, and how consumers can interact with them, are more thoroughly described in [4].

The combination of consumer choices and visual feedback with automated controls creates a number of opportunities for the GE Appliances to participate in various demand response markets, from short term, automated responses to longer term, consumer driven responses. This report will focus on three such services, wholesale energy costs, spinning reserve requirements, and frequency regulation, which are well-suited for use with appliance operation. Some appliances are more effective at supplying certain resources than others, and consumers may be more inclined to provide short term services that long term services, again depending upon the type of appliance. For example, an automated short term reduction (such as 5 minutes) in the demand of a clothes dryer produced by turning off the heating element will not adversely affect the consumer experience as drying time will only be extended by a few minutes, but may provide significant resources (up to 4 kW) towards a frequency regulation signal. However, a long term delay, as can be requested during a critical peak pricing period, may adversely affect consumer experience, needs advanced planning, and requires the participation of the consumer, but also provides significant benefits towards reduction of wholesale costs. Most customers will not be aware of a short term reduction in the compressor load of their refrigerator, nor a 6 hour shift in the defrost cycle, making the refrigerator ideal for a number of services. Each of the services,

and how effectively they can be used to shift demand, will be further discussed in the next sections.

3.1 Wholesale Energy Costs

All loads incur a cost for the wholesale production and delivery of energy. Costs are typically far greater during peak demand periods than off-peak periods; however, consumers are most commonly exposed to a flat rate charge for electricity that does not necessarily reflect the current cost of energy production. For example, in the 2008 Energy Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT) the average on-peak price was 105.36 \$/MWh, while the off-peak price was 66.99 \$/MWh (a ratio of 1.57 on-peak to off-peak) [13]. Note that the actual ratio is very dependent upon which hours are specified as on-peak versus off-peak. This ratio can be much greater during "extreme" market periods, such as seen during very hot summer days when air conditioning load is at a maximum. Commonly used methods for encouraging customers to shift their loads from on-peak to off-peak periods are Time-of-Use (TOU) and Critical Peak Pricing (CPP) programs. These programs encourage consumers to change their load consumption patterns by raising the price of electricity during on-peak periods, while correspondingly reducing the price during off-peak periods. The goal is to reduce utility demand during on-peak periods and therefore reduce overall costs. While there are more complex methods for reducing demand during on-peak periods (Real Time Pricing, Peak Time Rebates, etc.), this method is relatively simple and has been used since the 1970s to effectively reduce demand [14]. Numerous studies, mostly focused on air conditioning systems and hot water heaters, have shown that a combination of automation and providing consumers with feedback makes these mechanism far more effective [15]-[19].

GE Appliances' have been designed to work in conjunction with TOU/CPP price signals to reduce demand, building the automation and consumer feedback directly into the appliance interface. This eases the use for consumers, utilizing an interface they may already be familiar with rather than introducing a new "widget". The consumer is able to access settings through a set of pre-configured automated responses, translating the TOU/CPP prices into control signals: Low, Normal, High, and Critical, or modify the pre-configured settings as needed, including overriding the utility price signal and continuing normal operation. Ideally, this makes it easy-to-use and transparent enough for consumers to actively engage in the process, reducing energy bills and increasing system efficiency.

Of course, the big unknown with these types of systems is how actively the consumer will engage in the process, both initially and over time. To evaluate the effects of consumer interaction, a number of consumer response scenarios were created, ranging from "none" (given an optimism level of 0) to "very optimistic" (optimism level 7). These scenarios try to reflect the consumers' willingness to 1) participate in a demand response program and shift their load for the given amount of time, 2) shift a given percentage of that load, and 3) reduce the consumption versus shift the consumption to a different time period.

To describe the load shifting capabilities of the clothes dryer (and other appliances), three settings were used. The first, *Percentage of Customers Allowing (PCA)*, describes the percentage of customers who are willing to engage in load shifting. This could also be thought of as the penetration level of responsive appliances, or what percentage of customers within a service area have smart appliances connected to a utility signal, given by

$$PCA = \frac{Number of Customers Willing to Participate}{All Customers}$$
(1)

The second setting, *Percentage of Available Load (PAL)*, describes the percent of load reduction during the given time frame, or how much load is available for shifting as a combination of controls and consumer interaction, described by

$$PAL = \frac{Appl.Load Avail. for Reduction per Willing Customer (kW)}{Total Appl.Load per Willing Customer (kW)}$$
(2)

Where possible, this information was extracted from previous work [4], which estimated the load shifting capabilities of the appliances using consumer survey data from GE Appliances' while using various TOU and CPP test cases. For reference, optimism level 5 represents the "best guess" as extracted from the survey data, and likely represents an early adopter scenario. The third setting, *Percentage of Load Shifted (PLS)*, represents the percent of load that was available for shifting from an on-peak period to an off-peak period.

$$PLS = \frac{Reduced Appl. Load Consumed at a Later Period (kW)}{Appl. Load Avail. for Reduction per Willing Customer (kW)}$$
(3)

The reverse, 1 - *Percentage of Load Shifted*, represents the percentage of energy reduced. In some economic models, this concept is referred to as substitution elasticity versus daily elasticity [17], where a change in the price of electricity encourages consumers to either shift or reduce energy consumption. This resulted in three time periods of load shapes: low price, high price, and recovery. For the normal period, the total load at each hour is simply defined as

$$E_{WS} = \sum_{n=1}^{\# of \ appl.} E_{base_n} \tag{4}$$

where E_{WS} is the amount of energy consumed at the wholesale level during a given hour by all of the appliances within a demand response scenario and E_{base} is the amount of energy consumed by each appliance during a given hour using base conditions, or the load shape prior to modifying the load with a demand response signal.

During a high price period, the load is reduced by the percentage of customers willing to engage in the demand response request and the amount of load that is available for shifting. The energy consumed during a high price hour is defined as

$$E_{WS} = \sum_{n=1}^{\# of \ appl.} E_{base_n} - E_{base_n} * PCA_n * PAL_n$$
(5)

The energy reduction by a given appliance during a high price hour can be stated as

$$\Delta E_{WS_n} = E_{base_n} - E_{WS_n} \tag{6}$$

and the amount of energy reduction by appliance (ΔE_{red}) during a high price event lasting *h* hours can be stated as

$$\Delta E_{red_n} = \sum_{h=1}^{hours} \Delta E_{WS_{n_h}} \tag{7}$$

This energy reduction (ΔE_{red}) represents the amount of load deferred during the high price event. Some of that load will be shifted to a later period as consumers recover their deferred processes, i.e., a delayed load of laundry. For the purpose of this study, it was assumed that the number of hours of recovery was equal to the number of hours spent in a high price event, and the deferred load was evenly spread across those hours. So, for a given hour within the recovery period, an individual appliance would consume

$$E_{WS_n} = E_{base_n} + \frac{\Delta E_{red_n}}{h} * PLS_n \tag{8}$$

A good example of this is the operation of a clothes washer versus a range oven during a high price event. Consumers will delay the operation of the clothes washer, but will still eventually wash those clothes at a later period. However, if the consumer makes the choice to not cook dinner in the oven, using the microwave instead, that load is not replaced at a later time. Table 3-1 and Table 3-2 list the assumptions at various "optimism levels" for the clothes dryer for both CPP and TOU. Assumptions for all other appliances are listed in Appendix A. Note that as the optimism level increases, the expected reduction in load also increases. The data in these tables represent an amalgamation of survey and testing data determined from [4].

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	45%	90%
2	35%	45%	90%
3	55%	45%	90%
4	75%	45%	90%
5	95%	45%	90%
6	100%	45%	90%
7	100%	45%	90%

Table 3-1: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for CPP.

Table 3-2: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	20%	90%
2	35%	20%	90%
3	55%	20%	90%
4	75%	20%	90%
5	95%	20%	90%
6	95%	20%	90%
7	95%	20%	90%

As an example, assume that the values for CPP and optimism level 4 in Table 3-1 are used with a representative dryer load shape and a price signal, as defined in Table 3-3. When applying these values in conjunction with a 4-hour CPP signal to the daily load shape, the daily energy consumption is reduced by 0.9%, and the daily load shape is adjusted as shown in Figure 3-1. The filled areas represent the energy reduced due to the CPP signal (Reduced Energy) and the amount of energy that is shifted to a later period (Recovered Energy). Note that the Recovered Energy is 10% less than the Reduced Energy, indicating that customers not only shifted their loads due to the CPP signal, but also reduced their overall energy consumption.

	+-nou er r periou, where r ex is 75%, r x r is 45%, and r r is 50%.				
Hour	Period	E _{base}	E _{ws}	Calculation	
14	Low	0.916	0.916	E _{base}	
15	High	0.868	0.575	E_{base} - E_{base} * 0.75 * 0.45	
16	High	0.836	0.554	E_{base} - E_{base} * 0.75 * 0.45	
17	High	0.788	0.522	$E_{base} - E_{base} * 0.75 * 0.45$	
18	High	0.707	0.469	$E_{base} - E_{base} * 0.75 * 0.45$	
19	Recovery	0.637	0.880	$E_{base} + 1.08 / 4 * 0.9$	
20	Recovery	0.605	0.848	E _{base} + 1.08 / 4 * 0.9	
21	Recovery	0.576	0.819	E _{base} + 1.08 / 4 * 0.9	
22	Recovery	0.476	0.719	E _{base} + 1.08 / 4 * 0.9	
23	Low	0.299	0.299	E _{base}	

Table 3-3: Example calculation of new dryer load shape when applying a 4-hour CPP period, where PCA is 75%, PAL is 45%, and PLS is 90%.



Figure 3-1: Base and modified load shape for the clothes dryer using a CPP signal.

3.2 Frequency regulation

In addition to adjusting basic energy consumption patterns, a number of appliances have a significant capability to provide regulation service. Frequency regulation is required to balance load and generation moment-to-moment, utilizing nearly instantaneous control to maintain a grid frequency of 60 Hz. An imbalance can cause a shift in system frequency, reducing overall system stability. If extreme frequency deviations (~0.5 Hz) cannot be corrected in a timely manner, load shedding and generation tripping mechanisms operate to restore system frequency.

Conceptually, frequency regulation could be provided by either generation or load, maintaining the balance between the two. Traditionally, only generation resources have been engaged, utilizing a centralized control signal referred to as Automatic Generation Control (AGC) in combination with instantaneous local controls to adjust generator output on a second-by-second basis. Typically, Independent System Operators (ISOs) purchase blocks of up- and downfrequency regulation in 15- to 60-minute intervals, commanding the set point of the generator via Historically, generators have only the AGC signal at intervals on the order of seconds. participated in this operation as they are considered deterministic and controllable, while loads are stochastic in nature and less controllable. With increasing penetration of renewable energy resources, particularly wind and solar resources that are also stochastic in nature, generation can no longer be considered deterministic and controllable, adding a level of uncertainty to frequency control. For example, a report from Navigant Consulting Inc. indicated that for California to meet its 33% Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) goals, an additional 4,600 MW of frequency regulation would be required by 2020, mainly in regulation-up services [2]. This could in part be supported by current resources, but it was also concluded that during extreme events, additional resources were needed. Traditionally, this would have been met by investing new capital and building additional power plant resources. However, new 'smart' load devices and increasing communication infrastructure are capable of providing the same resource to the grid, adjusting the load behavior as a function of frequency.

Again, not all loads are capable of meeting these requirements; some appliances are far more capable of shifting their behavior in a short time interval than others. Modifying energy consumption through a CPP or TOU signal requires a shift in behavior by the user (automation can expand this resource), moving entire cycles from one time period to another, but without fundamentally affecting the overall behavior of the appliance. However, to respond on very short timeframes (~seconds), individual processes within the appliance must be interrupted, requiring careful design and additions to the internal control logic. And, not all processes are interruptible on these shorter timeframes. For example, turning the heat element(s) on and off within a short interval (~minutes) in a clothes dryer will not adversely affect the operation; however, this same operation on the compressor of a refrigerator may severely shorten the lifetime of the compressor. The advantage of this short timeframe is that once the controls are added to the appliance and the consumer gives consent for the response to occur, the behavior is automated and non-intrusive to the consumer. The disadvantage is that it may require more robust communication systems. There are a number of proposed methods for controlling residential load devices for frequency response, including purely autonomous Grid Friendly AppliancesTM [20], direct load control (DLC) using either a centralized signal or local measurements [21], or in a hybrid cooperative control system using both centralized signals and local information [22][23] (Note, this is not a comprehensive list). The goal of this paper will not be to focus on the type of control used, but rather assume that some form of control is available and assess the load behavior changes created by it and the subsequent economic impact of the "ideal" control.

Similar to the wholesale energy costs, three settings were used to describe the aggregate behavior of the appliances when receiving a regulation signal: *Percentage of Customers Allowing, Percentage of Available Load,* and *Percentage of Load Shifted.* Table 3-4 lists an example of the settings used for the clothes dryer. Notice that the percentage of available load is greater than that seen in TOU/CPP due to the fact that the heating element can be turned off for a greater percentage of the shorter time period, and that the percent shifted is greater as the short response period will not affect the overall energy consumption as greatly. Note that for each appliance, these assumptions are different depending upon the capability of the appliance. The assumptions for each appliance are listed in Appendix A and were estimated from previous work [4].

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	80%	97%
2	35%	80%	97%
3	55%	80%	97%
4	75%	80%	97%
5	95%	80%	97%
6	95%	80%	97%
7	95%	80%	97%

Table 3-4: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for frequency regulation.

3.3 Spinning Reserve

Spinning reserves (SR) operate in the timeframe between frequency regulation and wholesale energy, typically on a 10-minute period. These reserves act to maintain system balance in the event of a catastrophic failure, such as a loss of the largest generation plant in the system, for a short period of time (10 - 30 minutes) until non-spinning reserves can be activated, such as a cold start of a thermal plant. Spinning reserve resources must be deployable within 10 minutes of being called. Once the non-spinning reserves are deployed, spinning reserve resources return to their normal operation (less than 30 minutes of disturbance). Typically, this is reserve capacity at an already operating power plant, but can be delivered by any grid-connect and synchronized device. The amount of spinning reserve required at any given time is very dependent upon the system. For example, NYISO requires that the 10-minute (non-spinning) reserve be greater than or equal to the greatest contingency in the system and 10-minute spinning reserve equal to one-half the largest contingency [24]. This is typically on the order of 100s-1000s of MW. The price for spinning reserve resource is usually determined an hour to 75 minutes ahead of time through an ISO market.

Historical data shows that most spinning reserve resources are deployed for ten minutes or less [25]. Again, this resource is typically provided by generation resources. However, most appliances are capable of shifting behavior for ten minutes without noticeable effect on the consumer interaction. In a Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory demonstration, it was found that load response for spinning reserve could occur within 20 seconds with zero customer complaints over a three-month trial period [25]. Clothes dryers and water heaters are capable of turning off the heating element and refrigerators can delay the defrost cycle by ten minutes without adverse effects. This would eliminate wear and tear on generators that currently have to ramp up and down very quickly within a 10-minute period. It would also eliminate the need to have fossil fuel supplied thermal plants sitting on idle, burning fuel, but producing negligible It is also assumed that non-spinning reserves would return the system to preenergy. contingency conditions within a 30-minute window, allowing the appliances to return to normal operation. As described in the previous two sections, three settings were used to determine the availability of each appliance as a spinning reserve resource. Table 3-5 lists the settings for the clothes dryer for each of the optimism levels. Appendix A gives similar settings for each of the appliances, estimated from previous work [4].

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	80%	95%
2	35%	80%	95%
3	55%	80%	95%
4	75%	80%	95%
5	95%	80%	95%
6	95%	80%	95%
7	95%	80%	95%

Table 3-5: Clothes Dryer response assumptions for spinning reserves.

4 Benefit Analyses

In the previous report [4], the potential technical benefits of smart appliances were evaluated. Highly detailed models of GE Appliances' devices were created and the devices were tested under a variety of conditions to determine the potential for longer term peak reduction (2-6 hours) and shorter term load reduction (less than an hour). This section focuses on the resulting revenue streams that could be generated by applying load shifting behaviors in three demand response markets: wholesale energy, frequency regulation, and spinning reserve. Two ISO/RTO markets, NYISO and PJM in 2006, that contain publicly available data on historical prices for all three markets were used to determine the potential return on investment in using demand response capable appliances [26][27]. For this analysis, wholesale hourly averages for Locational Marginal Price (LMP), frequency regulation, and spinning reserves were used to estimate the potential revenue that consumers and/or utilities might see by using responsive appliances. Nine appliances were considered. The assumptions for annual energy consumption for each appliance are shown in Table 4-1. Note that the appliances with asterisks are not GE Appliances, but were modeled for completeness. Hourly and seasonal load shapes from the End-Use Load and Consumer Assessment Program (ELCAP) were applied to each device to represent daily and seasonal consumption patterns [28]. These load shapes are typical for the Pacific Northwest, with large electric heating loads but relatively small cooling loads. An example of the clothes dryer load shape is shown in Figure 4-1, while all of the load shapes can be found in Appendix B. Where appropriate, the load shapes were adjusted from the original ELCAP data to account for advances in energy efficiency to meet the annual energy consumption data listed in Table 4-1, which is intended to represent an average U.S. single family home with all electric appliances.

	Annual Energy Consumption per Household (kWh)	Percent of Total Consumption (%)
Clothes Dryer	1,037	5.3%
Clothes Washer	108	0.6%
Dishwasher	121	0.6%
Food Preparation	516	2.7%
Freezer	716	3.7%
HVAC	6,712	34.5%
Lights and Plugs	5,344	27.5%
Refrigerator	699	3.6%
Water Heater	4,196	21.6%
Total	19,449	

Table 4-1: Annual energy consumption for an average household of studied appliances.



Figure 4-1: Load shape used for the clothes dryer simulation.

A model was created in MATLAB® that applies the ELCAP load shapes to the hourly wholesale energy prices for one year. For example, Table 4-2 shows the total cost of wholesale energy purchased to serve the energy needs of one household using the PJM and NYISO 2006 data and the ELCAP load shapes. It should be noted that this is the *cost* of the wholesale energy, and does not include adders, mark-ups, or additional tariffs. If a system were to be deployed, this is effectively the reduced wholesale energy cost that would be deferred for the utility or Load Serving Entity (LSE), and the reduced cost would have to be appropriately divided between the utility and the customer, depending upon what type of system is created (i.e., the utility own the control devices and communications while the consumer owns the appliances).

 Table 4-2: Annual energy costs and consumption for an average household in PJM and NYISO using an average single family all electric appliance household.

	PJM 2006		NYISO 2006	
Total Annual Cost (\$)	\$	861.39	\$	1,457.33
Total Annual Energy (kWh)	19,449		19,449	
Average Energy Rate (\$/kWh)	0.0443		0.0749	

To estimate the change in wholesale energy costs that may be achieved by utilizing smart appliances, TOU rates were applied to each weekday, while the 15 highest wholesale price weekdays were chosen to apply CPP. Weekends were left unaffected. It should be noted that the "rates" were not actually applied, but rather the load was shifted during those periods as if the higher rate were applied to the consumer using the load shifting patterns described in Section 3.1. It should also be noted that the highest price days represent the perfect choice for CPP application and represent results that would be seen if operators had perfect information and forecasting, and represents the best that can be done. For the purpose of this study, two-tier, 6-hour CPP and two-tier TOU rates were applied as shown in Table 4-3, with different hours chosen for winter versus summer to capture the maximum benefit of the seasonality of the wholesale energy prices.

	High	Low
TOU - Winter	5-12	0-5 12-24
TOU - Summer	14-22	0-14 22-24
CPP - Winter	6-12	0-5 12-24
CPP - Summer	17-23	0-17 23-24

Table 4-3: TOU and CPP rate hours used in analysis.

Each of the optimism levels, including the base "unresponsive" (optimism level 0), was applied to each of the markets for an entire year. Figure 4-2 shows the annual savings in dollars and the annual savings in kilowatt-hours for each market at each optimism level. For the "average customer" (considered levels 3 and 4 for the purpose of this study) this equates to a 0.6-0.9% reduction in energy consumption and a 1.4-2.6% reduction in energy costs.



Figure 4-2: Annual cost savings for an average household (\$ and kWh) when applying TOU/CPP rates.

Of course, the goal is to participate in multiple revenue streams to capture as many benefits as possible from the use of the demand response enabled appliances. After modifying the load shape behavior using TOU and CPP signals, the benefit of responding to frequency prices was studied. Appliances were assumed to respond to the 30 highest frequency regulation price days out of the year, on days other than CPP high price days. Appliances were also allowed to respond on weekends. On any day that was chosen to for frequency regulation response, appliances were able to respond up to three market periods (1 hour) within the day. It should be noted that any number of days or hours for response could be chosen (and is allowed within the analytic model), however 90 hours per year was chosen to limit the number of events to reduce appliance wear and tear and limit the number of times consumer behavior was affected. It should also be noted that it is assumed that the response of the appliances in not large enough to affect the price of the frequency regulation market. With large penetrations of DR enabled appliances, the value of such markets may decrease.

Figure 4-3 and Figure 4-4 show the result of both wholesale energy savings and additional revenue from frequency response applied to each of the markets. For the purpose of this study, additional revenue generated by participating in frequency response and spinning reserve markets will be considered a "savings", as the net effect would be to reduce the consumer costs. Notice that the value of regulation is much lower in the PJM market. Much of this due to the fact that the overall PJM frequency response market is lower than the NYISO market, but is also due to the fact that a number of the highest price regulation days coincided with the highest price

wholesale energy days. More advanced optimization and forecasting algorithms could potentially increase the value seen by utilizing multi-objective control functionality.



Figure 4-3: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when applying TOU/CPP rates and frequency response in NYISO.



Figure 4-4: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when applying TOU/CPP rates and frequency response in PJM.

Finally, to capture as many benefits as possible, spinning reserve markets were also applied. Appliances were assumed to respond to the 150 highest price days, excluding CPP and frequency regulation days. During those days, which included weekends, three hours per day were allowed for response. While 150 days (or 450 hours per year) seems like an excessive number of days to allow response, in a real system, the devices are not necessarily called upon to perform response during each of those periods. The devices are contracted to perform the service, but are only required to reduce load if the system requires it due to an unplanned outage or catastrophic event. Including CPP and frequency regulation hours a total of 630 DR participation hours out of 8760 in a year were assumed, or approximately 7%. Again, it is assumed that the penetration levels of the appliances are low enough that it does not affect the current market value of the spinning reserve resources.



Figure 4-5: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when applying TOU/CPP rates, frequency response, and spinning reserve in NYISO.



Figure 4-6: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household when applying TOU/CPP rates, frequency response, and spinning reserve in PJM.

Notice that the revenue generated in the spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets is nearly equal to the amount of savings in the wholesale energy market. In general the rate (in
\$/kWh) for spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets are far less than wholesale energy. But, because of the relatively short amount of time that load is shifted in spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets it is assumed that consumers will be willing to engage in this market more often that the 15 days of CPP. Additionally, looking at the two graphics, it appears there is more value in the NYISO market; however, in terms of customer savings as a percentage of the total cost, they are far more similar. Figure 4-7 and Figure 4-8 show the same graphics in percent of total cost rather than in absolute dollars. Notice that in both markets, the maximum achievable savings is about 6.5% while the average consumer in both would see a 3-4% reduction in their overall cost.



Figure 4-7: Annual cost savings (%) for an average household when applying TOU/CPP rates, frequency response, and spinning reserve in NYISO.



Figure 4-8: Annual cost savings (%) for an average household when applying TOU/CPP rates, frequency response, and spinning reserve in PJM.

The value streams can also be broken down by appliance to understand the effectiveness of each appliance in reducing cost. Figure 4-9 and Figure 4-10 show the savings seen by each appliance in each market. As expected, HVAC systems and water heaters provide the greatest amount of benefit. However, much of the water heater reduction is in response to devices like the clothes washer and dishwasher deferring hot water usage. Figure 4-11 and Figure 4-12 show the other appliances (clothes dryer, clothes washer, dishwasher, food preparation, freezer, and refrigerator) lumped together. Using water temperature and volume of water use by appliance from [29], these figures also assume that approximately 30% of the hot water in the home is consumed by the dishwasher and clothes washer and therefore 30% of the cost reduction comes indirectly from the other appliances by reducing the hot water demand rather than directly from the water heater. Using this assumption, it shows that the appliances provide a near equivalent level of resource as the HVAC and water heater, resulting in \$13-\$23 savings per year.



Figure 4-9: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in NYISO.



Figure 4-10: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in PJM.



Figure 4-11: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in NYISO assuming water heater indirect reduction.



Figure 4-12: Annual cost savings (\$) for an average household by appliance in PJM assuming water heater indirect reduction.

While \$13-\$23 per year does not appear to be a significant amount of value considering the expense of program plus the initial expense of the smart appliance, the lifetime benefits must also be considered. Standard appliances continue operation anywhere from 10-20 years, so the initial capital investment of a smart appliance is offset by not only a single year of usage, but over its lifetime. Using average appliance lifetime data [30][31], Table 4-4 and Table 4-5 show the potential reduced cost over the lifetime of the appliance, assuming 30% of the water heater benefits come from the dishwasher and clothes washer at optimism level 4, or an "average" consumer. From these tables, it is clear that devices such as HVAC, water heaters, clothes dryers, clothes washers, and dishwashers can provide significant savings over and above the increased energy efficiency that comes with new, energy efficient appliances. Refrigerators and freezers provide some additional benefits. Considering these devices respond to signals with nearly no input from the consumer in an automated fashion, this may be considered significant. Food preparation (mainly ovens and ranges), however, does not appear to provide a significant benefits.

	Average Lifetime of Appliance (years)Lifetime Sav (\$)		etime Savings (\$)
Clothes Dryer	14	\$	71.50
Clothes Washer	12	\$	46.82
Dishwasher	12	\$	65.01
Food Preparation	15	\$	9.12
Freezer	16	\$	23.36
HVAC	14	\$	324.59
Lights and Plugs	-		-
Refrigerator	14	\$	20.83
Water Heater	14	\$	226.84
Total	-	\$	788.07

Table 4-4: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in NYISO.

¹Value estimated from range ovens; microwave lifetimes tend to be shorter.

²Lights and plug lifetimes were not estimated, as these are composed of a number of small devices.

	Average Lifetime of Appliance (years)	Lifetime Savings (\$)
Clothes Dryer	14	\$ 37.62
Clothes Washer	12	\$ 27.88
Dishwasher	12	\$ 39.61
Food Preparation	15	\$ 3.72
Freezer	16	\$ 13.08
HVAC	14	\$ 201.07
Lights and Plugs	-	-
Refrigerator	14	\$ 12.12
Water Heater	14	\$ 137.31
Total	-	\$ 472.41

Table 4-5: Lifetime savings for an average household by appliance in PJM.

¹Value estimated from range ovens; microwave lifetimes tend to be shorter. ²Lights and plug lifetimes were not estimated, as these are composed of a number of small devices.

5 Conclusions and Future Work

In this report, a series of analytical methods were presented to estimate the potential cost benefit of smart appliances while utilizing demand response. The effects on wholesale energy cost and possible additional revenue available by participating in frequency regulation and spinning reserve markets were explored. Specifically, historical market data from NYISO and PJM in 2006 was used to estimate the savings available to consumers and/or utilities by engaging demand response capabilities in HVAC systems, water heaters, clothes dryers and washers, dishwashers, refrigerators, freezers, miscellaneous light and plug loads, and cooktop range and ovens. Historical load shapes for each of the appliances and estimates for potential load shifting behavior were used to estimate the potential monetary benefits in a wholesale energy market, a frequency response market, and a spinning reserve market. These were then equated to annual and lifetime savings generated by each appliance in each energy market.

While this report should not be considered comprehensive, it does give some valuable insights into the potential use of smart appliances for demand response. A few key conclusions can be drawn from this study:

- A significant fraction (over 50%) of the total monetary benefits available to smart appliances are in the form of spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets, providing as much additional revenue in spinning reserve and frequency regulation markets as savings in wholesale energy markets. It was not determined how this revenue should be distributed between the utility and the consumer, but is left for individual deployments.
- 2) In addition to traditional demand response appliances (HVACs and water heaters), clothes dryers, clothes washers and dishwashers provide a significant amount of savings when accounting for the indirect effects on the water heater load. In areas where gas water heaters are prevalent, clothes washers and dishwashers participating in demand response do not provide significant savings or revenue in electricity markets.
- 3) Refrigerators and freezers are capable of providing some monetary benefits, but less so than the previous appliances. However, since these devices are nearly 100% automated with little to no effect on the consumer experience, this may increase their intrinsic value to demand response programs.
- 4) Food preparation devices (cooktops and ovens) do not provide significant monetary benefits.

This study did not focus on the mechanism by which smart appliances engage in spinning reserve or frequency regulation services or how the utility and consumer might split the cost and benefits associated with such a program. Further work is needed to understand how these devices might engage in these markets, the reliability of such participation, and what the capital and continuing costs of such engagement might be.

References

- [1] "U.S. Energy Information Administration". September 2011. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.eia.gov</u>.
- [2] B. Perlstein, et al., "Potential Role of Demand Response Resources in Maintaining Grid Stability and Integrating Variable Renewable Energy under California's 33 Percent Renewable Portfolio Standard", prepared for California's Demand Response Measurement and Evaluation Committee by Navigant Consulting, Inc., July 20, 2012.
- [3] "GridLAB-D". September 2011. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.gridlabd.org</u>.
- [4] J. C. Fuller, et al., "Modeling of GE Appliances: Peak Demand Reduction", PNNL-21358, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, 2012.
- [5] U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 1995, "Promoting Wholesale Competition Through Open Access Non-discriminatory Transmission Services by Public Utilities," Docket RM95-8-000, Washington, DC, Mar. 29.
- [6] Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975 (EPCA), Public Law 94-163.
- [7] National Energy Conservation Policy Act of 1978 (NECPA), Public Law 95-619.
- [8] National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987 (NAECA), Public Law 100-12.
- [9] National Appliance Energy Conservation Amendments of 1988, Public Law 100-357.
- [10] Energy Policy Act of 1992, Public Law 102-486.
- [11] Energy Policy Act of 2005 (EPACT 2005), Public Law 109-58.
- [12] S. Meyers, J. McMahon, M. McNeil, "Realized and Prospective Impacts of U.S. Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential Appliances: 2004 Update", LBNL-56417, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, May 2005.
- [13] C. Sastry, R. G. Pratt, V. Srivastava, and S. Li, "Use of Residential Smart Appliances for Peak-Load Shifting and Spinning Reserve Cost/Benefit Analysis", PNNL-20110, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, 2010.
- [14] J. H. Chamberlin, "Pricing and Incentives," Proceedings of the IEEE, Vol. 73, Issue 10, pp. 1513-1518, Oct. 1985.
- [15] Charles River Associates, "Impact Evaluation of the California Statewide Pricing Pilot", Mar. 2005.
- [16] A. Faruqui and S. Sergici, "Household Response to Dynamic Pricing of Electricity A Survey of the Empirical Evidence", The Brattle Group, Feb. 2010.
- [17] A. Faruqui and L. Wood, "Quantifying the Benefits of Dynamic Pricing in the Mass Market", The Brattle Group, Prepared for the Edison Electric Institute, Jan. 2008.
- [18] A. Jongejan, B. Katzman, T. Leahy, and M. Michelin, "Dynamic Pricing Tariffs for DTE's Residential Electricity Customers", Report No. CSS10-04, Center for Sustainable Studies, Univ. of Michigan, April 2010.
- [19] J. C. Fuller, N. Prakash Kumar, and C. A. Bonebrake, "Evaluation of Smart Grid Investment Grant Project Technologies: Demand Response," PNNL-20772, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, 2011.

- [20] D. J. Hammerstrom, et al., "Pacific Northwest GridWise Testbed Demonstration Projects, Part II: Grid FriendlyTM Appliance Project," PNNL-17079, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, Oct. 2007.
- [21] K. Samarakoon, J. Ekanayake, N. Jenkins, "Investigation of Domestic Load Control to Provide Primary Frequency Response Using Smart Meters," Smart Grid, IEEE Transactions on, vol.3, no.1, pp.282-292, March 2012.
- [22] J. Kondoh, H. Aki, H. Ymaguchi, A. Murata and I. Ishii, "Consumed Power Control of Time Deferrable Loads for Frequency Regulation," in Proceedings of 2004 IEEE PES Power Systems Conference and Exposition, October 2004.
- [23] D. J. Hammerstrom, et al., "Pacific Northwest GridWise Testbed Demonstration Projects, Part I: Olympic Peninsula Project," PNNL-17079, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, Oct. 2007.
- [24] "New York Independent System Operator: Ancillary Services Manual", Oct. 2012, Available at: www.nyiso.com/public/webdocs/documents/manuals/operations/ancserv.pdf
- [25] J. H. Eto, et al., "Demand Response Spinning Reserve Demonstration", LBNL-62761, Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California, May 2007.
- [26] "PJM". June 2011. [Online]. Available: www.pjm.com
- [27] "NYISO". June 2011. [Online]. Available: www.nyiso.com
- [28] R. G. Pratt, C. C. Conner, E. E. Richman, K. G. Ritland, W. F. Sandusky, and M. E. Taylor, "Description of Electric Energy Use in Single Family Residences in the Pacific Northwest," DOE/BP 13795 21, Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, OR, 1989.
- [29] R. Hendron and J. Burch, "Development of Standardized Domestic Hot Water Event Schedules for Residential Buildings", NREL/CP-550-40874, presented at Energy Sustainability 2007, Long Beach, CA, June 27-30, 2007.
- [30] G. Rosenquist, et al., "Consumer Life-Cycle Cost Impacts of Energy-Efficiency Standards for Residential-Type Central Air Conditioners and Heat Pumps", LNBL-49355, Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA, Oct. 2001.
- [31] "Mr. Appliance Expert Appliance Repair". Nov. 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.mrappliance.com/expert/life-guide/

Appendix A: Appliance Response Assumptions

Clothes Dryer

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	45%	90%
2	35%	45%	90%
3	55%	45%	90%
4	75%	45%	90%
5	95%	45%	90%
6	100%	45%	90%
7	100%	45%	90%

Table A-1: Clothes dryer response assumptions for CPP.

Table A-2: Clothes dryer response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	20%	90%
2	35%	20%	90%
3	55%	20%	90%
4	75%	20%	90%
5	95%	20%	90%
6	95%	20%	90%
7	95%	20%	90%

Table A-3: Clothes dryer response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	80%	97%
2	35%	80%	97%
3	55%	80%	97%
4	75%	80%	97%
5	95%	80%	97%
6	95%	80%	97%
7	95%	80%	97%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	80%	95%
2	35%	80%	95%
3	55%	80%	95%
4	75%	80%	95%
5	95%	80%	95%
6	95%	80%	95%
7	95%	80%	95%

Table A-4: Clothes dryer response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Clothes Washer

Table A-5: Clothes washer response assumptions for CPP.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	70%	100%
2	35%	70%	100%
3	55%	70%	100%
4	75%	70%	100%
5	95%	70%	100%
6	100%	70%	100%
7	100%	70%	100%

Table A-6: Clothes washer response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	20%	100%
2	35%	20%	100%
3	55%	20%	100%
4	75%	20%	100%
5	95%	20%	100%
6	95%	20%	100%
7	95%	20%	100%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	70%	100%
2	35%	70%	100%
3	55%	70%	100%
4	75%	70%	100%
5	95%	70%	100%
6	95%	70%	100%
7	95%	70%	100%

Table A-7: Clothes washer response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Table A-8: Clothes washer response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	70%	100%
2	35%	70%	100%
3	55%	70%	100%
4	75%	70%	100%
5	95%	70%	100%
6	95%	70%	100%
7	95%	70%	100%

Dishwasher

Table A-9: Dishwasher response assumptions for CPP.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	82%	100%
2	40%	82%	100%
3	60%	82%	100%
4	80%	82%	100%
5	100%	82%	100%
6	100%	82%	100%
7	100%	82%	100%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	10%	82%	100%
2	20%	82%	100%
3	40%	82%	100%
4	60%	82%	100%
5	80%	82%	100%
6	90%	82%	100%
7	90%	82%	100%

Table A-10: Dishwasher response assumptions for TOU.

Table A-11: Dishwasher response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	50%	100%
2	40%	50%	100%
3	60%	50%	100%
4	80%	50%	100%
5	100%	50%	100%
6	100%	50%	100%
7	100%	50%	100%

Table A-12: Dishwasher response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	50%	100%
2	40%	50%	100%
3	60%	50%	100%
4	80%	50%	100%
5	100%	50%	100%
6	100%	50%	100%
7	100%	50%	100%

Food Preparation

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	20%	80%
2	30%	20%	80%
3	50%	20%	80%
4	70%	20%	80%
5	90%	20%	80%
6	100%	20%	80%
7	100%	20%	80%

Table A-13: Food Preparation response assumptions for CPP.

Table A-14: Food Preparation response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	5%	10%	90%
2	10%	10%	90%
3	20%	10%	90%
4	30%	10%	90%
5	50%	10%	90%
6	70%	10%	90%
7	90%	10%	90%

Table A-15: Food Preparation response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	80%	100%
2	40%	80%	100%
3	60%	80%	100%
4	80%	80%	100%
5	100%	80%	100%
6	100%	80%	100%
7	100%	80%	100%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	10%	100%
2	40%	10%	100%
3	60%	10%	100%
4	80%	10%	100%
5	100%	10%	100%
6	100%	10%	100%
7	100%	10%	100%

Table A-16: Food Preparation response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Freezer

Table A-17: Freezer response assumptions for CPP.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	30%	100%
2	40%	30%	100%
3	60%	30%	100%
4	80%	30%	100%
5	100%	30%	100%
6	100%	30%	100%
7	100%	30%	100%

Table A-18: Freezer response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	10%	15%	100%
2	20%	15%	100%
3	40%	15%	100%
4	60%	15%	100%
5	80%	15%	100%
6	90%	15%	100%
7	90%	15%	100%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	30%	100%
2	40%	30%	100%
3	60%	30%	100%
4	80%	30%	100%
5	100%	30%	100%
6	100%	30%	100%
7	100%	30%	100%

Table A-19: Freezer response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Table A-20: Freezer response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	40%	100%
2	40%	40%	100%
3	60%	40%	100%
4	80%	40%	100%
5	100%	40%	100%
6	100%	40%	100%
7	100%	40%	100%

Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning

Table A-21: HVAC response	assumptions for CPP.
---------------------------	----------------------

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	15%	40%	80%
2	30%	40%	80%
3	50%	40%	80%
4	70%	40%	80%
5	80%	40%	80%
6	90%	40%	80%
7	100%	40%	80%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	20%	80%
2	40%	20%	80%
3	60%	20%	80%
4	80%	20%	80%
5	80%	20%	80%
6	90%	20%	80%
7	100%	20%	80%

Table A-22: HVAC response assumptions for TOU.

Table A-23: HVAC response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	50%	100%
2	40%	50%	100%
3	60%	50%	100%
4	80%	50%	100%
5	100%	50%	100%
6	100%	50%	100%
7	100%	50%	100%

Table A-24: HVAC response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	60%	100%
2	40%	60%	100%
3	60%	60%	100%
4	80%	60%	100%
5	100%	60%	100%
6	100%	60%	100%
7	100%	60%	100%

Lights and Plugs

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	5%	25%	0%
2	10%	25%	0%
3	20%	25%	0%
4	30%	25%	0%
5	50%	25%	0%
6	70%	25%	0%
7	100%	25%	0%

Table A-25: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for CPP.

Table A-26: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	5%	15%	0%
2	10%	15%	0%
3	20%	15%	0%
4	30%	15%	0%
5	50%	15%	0%
6	70%	15%	0%
7	90%	15%	0%

Table A-27: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	5%	5%	0%
2	10%	5%	0%
3	20%	5%	0%
4	30%	5%	0%
5	50%	5%	0%
6	70%	5%	0%
7	90%	5%	0%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	5%	5%	0%
2	10%	5%	0%
3	20%	5%	0%
4	30%	5%	0%
5	50%	5%	0%
6	70%	5%	0%
7	90%	5%	0%

Table A-28: Lights and Plugs response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Refrigerator

Table A-29: Refrigerator response assumptions for CPP.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	30%	100%
2	40%	30%	100%
3	60%	30%	100%
4	80%	30%	100%
5	100%	30%	100%
6	100%	30%	100%
7	100%	30%	100%

Table A-30: Refrigerator response assumptions for TOU.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	15%	100%
2	40%	15%	100%
3	60%	15%	100%
4	80%	15%	100%
5	100%	15%	100%
6	100%	15%	100%
7	100%	15%	100%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	30%	100%
2	40%	30%	100%
3	60%	30%	100%
4	80%	30%	100%
5	100%	30%	100%
6	100%	30%	100%
7	100%	30%	100%

Table A-31: Refrigerator response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Table A-32: Refrigerator response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	40%	100%
2	40%	40%	100%
3	60%	40%	100%
4	80%	40%	100%
5	100%	40%	100%
6	100%	40%	100%
7	100%	40%	100%

Water Heater

Table A-33: Water Heater response assumptions for CPP.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	70%	90%
2	40%	70%	90%
3	60%	70%	90%
4	80%	70%	90%
5	100%	70%	90%
6	100%	70%	90%
7	100%	70%	90%

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	40%	90%
2	40%	40%	90%
3	60%	40%	90%
4	80%	40%	90%
5	80%	40%	90%
6	90%	40%	90%
7	100%	40%	90%

Table A-34: Water Heater response assumptions for TOU.

Table A-35: Water Heater response assumptions for frequency regulation.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	90%	100%
2	40%	90%	100%
3	60%	90%	100%
4	80%	90%	100%
5	100%	90%	100%
6	100%	90%	100%
7	100%	90%	100%

Table A-36: Water Heater response assumptions for spinning reserve.

Optimism Level	Percentage of Customers Allowing	Percentage of Available Load	Percentage of Load Shifted
0	0%	0%	0%
1	20%	40%	90%
2	40%	40%	90%
3	60%	40%	90%
4	80%	40%	90%
5	80%	40%	90%
6	90%	40%	90%
7	100%	40%	90%

Appendix B: ELCAP Load Shapes



Figure B-1: ELCAP load shapes for clothes dryers.



Figure B-2: ELCAP load shapes for clothes washers.



Figure B-3: ELCAP load shapes for dishwashers.



Figure B-4: ELCAP load shapes for food preparation.



Figure B-5: ELCAP load shapes for freezers.



Figure B-6: ELCAP load shapes for HVACs.



Figure B-7: ELCAP load shapes for lights and other miscellaneous devices.



Figure B-8: ELCAP load shapes for refrigerators.



Figure B-9: ELCAP load shapes for water heaters.

Distribution

No. of

Copies

Dan Ton
U.S. Department of Energy
1000 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, DC 20585

No. of

<u>Copies</u>

5 Local Distribution

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory

- 1 Charlie Smith GE Appliances and Light Address City, State and ZIP Code
- William Burke GE Appliances and Light Address City, State and ZIP Code

GB Parker K6-05 CH Imhoff K9-69 DA King K2-12 RG Pratt K1-85 JC Fuller K1



Proudly Operated by **Battelle** Since 1965

902 Battelle Boulevard P.O. Box 999 Richland, WA 99352 1-888-375-PNNL (7665) www.pnnl.gov

